
 1 

 
OFFICE OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 

Peterborough, New Hampshire 
 

CONTOOCOOK VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

BUDGET & PROPERTY COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, January 22, 2007 
SAU OFFICE 

7:00 PM 
 

MINUTES 
 

Attendees:  Craig Hicks, Bill McKinnon, Gail Cromwell, Stewart Brock, Butch 
                    Estey, Bart Goodeve, Beverly Bacon, Ray Cote, Mary Allen, Tom 
                    Welden, Christy Greene, Keith Burke, Marian Alese, Linda Potter, 
                    Sue Dell, Dick Dunning, Gib West, Sue Copley, May Clark   

 
Craig Hicks called the meeting to order at 7:04 p.m. 

 
1.    Approval of Minutes – January 4, 2007 

Butch Estey moved to accept the minutes of the January 4, 2007.  Stewart Brock 
second.  Gail Cromwell corrected her statement saying that we could hire 
“licensed” individualized to be replaced with “qualified” individuals.  All in favor.   

 
2.    07 – 08 Budget Prep 

Marian Alese distributed the Revenue Code Description (see attachment #1).  
She said it reflects the fuel change.  She pointed out that the handout states that 
“District assessment includes state property tax.” 
Ray Cote proposed that we take the HR position out of the budget because we 
will be getting a new Superintendent.  He said that he doesn’t want to expand 
the office until we know what the strengths in the office will be.  He would like to 
talk about it again next year.  Christy asked when the teacher contract will be 
renewed.  The response was in one more year.  She said that the district has 
gotten so large that we would still need an HR person in place to manage all of 
those tasks.  She was not in favor of taking the position out of the budget.  Bill 
McKinnon said that if we take the position that it be put back in with the blessing 
of the new Superintendent.  Mary Allen said that if we put it in the budget there 
would be a saving of one-half of the cost if we waited to hire until the new 
Superintendent was hired.  Craig said that he agreed.  Gail Cromwell said that 
whether or not we put it in the budget, there is actual room with the retirements 
coming down to fund it.  Craig said that the retirements are not for the 
upcoming year but rather for the next since they have to give a years notice. 
Ray Cote motioned that we take the HR person out of the budget.  
Craig second.  The motion failed.   



 2 

Butch Estey said that he would like to speak about Tony Geraci’s position.  
Marian said that she plans to speak to the Donna and Janis tomorrow.  
Butch Estey motioned to eliminate Tony’s position.  Bill McKinnon 
second. 
Tom Welden said that if Marian is going to have more information tomorrow 
night, he would like to hear what she would have to say.   
Butch said that at the last meeting we said that we would bring it up at the next 
Budget & Property meeting.   
Bart said that it would be acceptable to advance it somewhat.  We could get a 
little more precise tonight.   
Butch said that it is not justified.  He looked at what the position does and the 
items listed have been done for years.  For example, he has purchased produce 
from the band for years.  The description does not convince him that it is 
needed.   
Gail Cromwell said that she passed this information along to someone she knew 
to review.  They were not impressed.  This individual said that some of the items 
listed should have been done years ago.   
Marian said that this is the first year that Donna and Janis were in charge.  Tony 
has been working with establishing the greenhouse at GBS.  In addition, he has 
responsibilities with the concession stand.  He has grant writing responsibilities 
as well.  The idea was that Donna would not have to worry about some of these 
items and let Tony help to expand the program.  Marian said that it was her 
understanding that this conversation would take place at tomorrow nights 
meeting.   
Stewart suggested that we focus on the position and not the individual.  Butch 
asked if we had a job description.   
Stewart wanted to know what grants, if any, were written and what revenue 
stream is in place.  A much richer conversation can take place from there.   
Bart Goodeve said that we really don’t have a title or a job description.  Marian 
said that we do have a job description.  Bart asked if this individual had been 
reviewed.  Marian said that she has conducted a review.  Bart said that if a 
review was done recently that he did not understand what the mystery was.  He 
said that it should be clear what this individual does.  Marian apologized that she 
was unable to provide information.  She does know that both he and Donna 
were going to their final “Safe Serve” session.   
Bart said that at the very least, we could look at the last review to see what was 
being measured and see what has been accomplished.  Bart said that the 
responsibilities should be more precise.  Marian said that she could provide 
proof.  Marian said that we were clear when the summary went out to the School 
Board.  There were some things that the Food Service Director could not do in 
the first year.  The Health piece was too big for Donna or Marian to conduct in 
the first year.  Marian said that he is very active with the Special Ed students in 
the classroom.   
Bart said that what is not helpful is the “wonderful things that he has done”.  He 
really wants to know if the position is necessary.  Marian said that she responded 
to the question of what is required of the position.   



 3 

Christy Greene said that when she thinks of Tony she thinks of innovation.  She 
likes the fact that we should focus on the job description but Tony is in the 
position.  What we got this year is a cutting edge food service program.  She 
thinks that it is wonderful but wonders if we can afford a cutting edge food 
service program. 
Bill McKinnon asked how many reviews have been conducted to date.  Marian 
said that she meets with him every month.  Bill said that it was his impression 
that there was some formal evaluation of progress conducted.  He said that 
apparently there are no formal reviews done to date.  He said that there was 
suppose to be a review by November.   
Marian said that she provided that information a month ago.  She has a packet 
on “wellness”.  Sports nutrition information was provided as well.  Bill questioned 
what value we are getting out of this position.   
Tom Welden said that Marian can bring back the job description.  He is 
concerned about micromanaging down to the position.  This position is paid for 
by the food service program but the money does not impact the budget.  He said 
that we as a Board need to be careful to go position by position.  It is not our job 
to do this as a Board. 
Craig Hicks said that the reason we are having this discussion is that a 
resignation was given and then it was decided to keep the position in the 
budget.  We created a position to see if he could accomplish other things.  He 
said that it is January and we agreed to look at this position 90 days after it went 
into affect.  The money comes out of the food service account and if we run a 
deficit, then we go into a deficit.  The benefits associated with this position come 
out of the budget.  We need to make sure that we are clear.  He suggested that 
we respect Marian’s request to discuss this tomorrow night. 
Keith said that Marian submitted a report in a timely manner.  He too understood 
that this discussion would take place tomorrow night.  After speaking with Donna 
tomorrow we will bring forward a recommendation.   
Bart said that in the minutes from the last meeting it states that this 
conversation would take place at the next Budget & Property meeting.  Bart said 
that he does not recollect information about the position.  Bart said that we 
should settle it once and for all tomorrow night.  He requested that the 
information be provided again tomorrow night.   
 
Butch said that the Drug Policy Committee is working on adding a component of 
having a LADC on board at the high school.  LADC is a licensed alcohol and drug 
counselor.  If we are going to make a change in the drug policy and request a 
person go to counseling that we have a person in place.   
Craig asked how often that would happen.  Butch said that when there is a 
violation, the offender would be required to go to counseling.  The penalty for 
such an offense would be different if the individual chose to go to a counselor or 
not.   
Gail asked why the parent was not responsible for the expense of counseling.  
Butch said that many of the offenders come from homes that would not be able 
to afford counseling nor do they have insurance to cover this.  Bart said that we 



 4 

would be less equipped to handle this with our current resources.  Bart added 
that it could be $60,000 for a qualified person or the cost of training an existing 
individual.   
Gail asked if there was evidence that this would do any good.  She said that it 
was unlikely that we would turn anyone’s life around.  Bart said that that was a 
dismal road to go down. 
Linda Potter said that we have an issue that exists in the schools.  The more that 
we can surround these students with these resources the better the students will 
be.  Linda said that it takes a village to raise a child.  Being proactive is a huge 
piece of it.  Parents can’t be there 24/7.  We have to help these students make it 
through school.  The more support that we can provide the better their chances.  
Any kind of early intervention does make a difference.   
Butch Estey said that if a kid comes in with a problem it affects everyone around 
him.  Gail said that we could kick them out of school.  Butch said that the 
student is not coming in with drugs on him but it affects him in school.   
Christy said that for us to require a student to seek counseling and not provide it 
is like an unfunded mandate.  We are not fond of those.   
In-school counseling gives us a better chance that the student will get to the 
counseling.  There is a benefit to the LADC being our employee.  Her hope was 
that this person would be available to the middle schools as well. 
Bill McKinnon said that he is not one that likes to see positions added but this 
may be the most cost effective way.  He said that it is cheap money. 
Bart Goodeve said that drug and alcohol abuse is a condition that inhibits an 
effective education.  Dealing with this condition requires specific skills, training 
and experience.  We need these resources in place.  It is not in a social context 
that we need this.  Purely from an educational standpoint, this is the kind of 
thing that schools need to be able to address. 
Tom Welden said that his concern is that the policy is still being formulated.  We 
have not looked at what is the most cost effective way to deliver this.  He said 
that he is unsure where we are.  That part of the picture has not been 
presented. He said that he feels we are putting the cart before the horse. 
Mary Allen pointed out that we spend a lot of time and money in providing 
support services.  This is exactly like that.  She said that we might not quite be 
there yet but said there ought to be an in-house counselor in place.  It is part of 
the promise we have made to these kids. 
Stewart said that we owe it to the community.  He hoped that we could turn 
these students into productive citizens.   
Ray Cote said that he would like to understand who we have currently in place.  
We hoped that we could multi-train.   
Butch said that a LADC is a specialized field.  He did not think that we have one 
in place right now.  It would take several years to become a LADC to get the 
number of supervised hours in.   
Christy said that it is important for us to know what our resources are.  She 
could add this to the agenda on the Education Committee.  We have a crisis 
counselor at the high school.   



 5 

Ray said that he needed to understand better what the loads of the individuals 
are.  He would like to see “the village” be more involved. 
Gail said that we should stress personal responsibility with these issues.  She 
said that she did not feel that this was our job. 
Christy said that we do not have endless guidance counselors at the high school.  
We have talked about having students develop “life plans” with their counselors 
when mapping out their education.  The counselors have large loads already 
without addressing personal issues.   
Tom said that he would like to get some feedback from the principals on this 
topic.  
Dick Dunning said that there is no question that we need to have a trained 
individual present.  We need to go to someone who is trained and an expert in 
this field when seeking help.  A certified person is critical.  Dick asked what the 
value is of one life when looking at what the impact might be.  Dick said that we 
used Bruce Dechert both at school and in the community to address this issue. 
Gib West said that he is reading statistics about drug and alcohol use.  
Teenagers seek risk and are compulsive.  If we had more individuals out there to 
relate to these students it would benefit.  Gib felt that we get more for our buck. 
Bart said that he would support this even absent the policy.  The issues are 
going to be there even if we change our policies.  We can trust our 
administration to best fill this need. 
Keith asked what Butch was originally proposing.  He asked if Butch was 
proposing a new position.  Keith said that substance abuse is not a school issue 
alone.  We ought to look at the hospital and CPC as well as other service 
organizations to work together to address these issues.   
Sue Dell said that she is only struggling because she would have to choose 
between a math position and a LADC.  To date, she has had to bring forth 
students who cannot function at school for long term suspension because we 
have no other solution for them.  She said that she would love to be able to work 
with middle school students as they walk in the door rather then when it was too 
late. 
Christy said that there is only one in house program which is Marathon House for 
the entire state.   
Craig said that this is in part why he wanted the SRO.  He said that he knows 
first hand of three families that would have been ahead of the game had we had 
someone in place.  Craig agreed with Bill that the costs just go on and on to the 
society.  He added that the kids that bring drugs in cause a lot of problems.  He 
would love to budget both the LADC and the SRO and have the conversation 
later.  We would therefore have the funds available.  Craig felt that the Chiefs of 
Police support both of these positions.  The bottom line is that if we could try to 
solve the problem we would benefit the communities.  He said that he was 
unsure if we wanted to put both positions in the budget.  He thought that we 
could talk about it after district meeting.   
Tom asked if we knew how other schools were doing this.  What is the true cost 
of this position?  He felt that this should be further studied. 



 6 

Butch said that we are talking anywhere from $75 to $100 per hour to hire 
outside sources.  He felt that we could hire a LADC for $60,000 including 
benefits.  Butch felt that we should have public hearings before hiring a SRO.  
People will have a lot of questions.   
Christy said that similar to the HR position, it might be good to include this 
money in the budget and go back rather than try again next year. 
Craig said that he did not think that we should put the SRO in the budget.  He 
would like to have the conversation first.   
Butch Estey motioned to add the position of a LADC and the funding for 
it for the use of both the high school and middle school.  A show of 
hands was requested.  Tom Welden, Ray Cote and Gail Cromwell 
opposed.   
 
Gail asked Marian to go over the default budget (included in attachment #1).   
Marian went over the default budget.   
Gail asked about the Language Lab.  She felt that this item should be taken out 
of the budget.  Marian said that she would look at this item.  Keith explained that 
this was a starting point.  That it encompassed equipment +/- contractual 
obligations.  Gail felt that the language lab was a one-time expenditure.  
Keith said that the high school is going to continue to purchase equipment.  It 
may be a tuba one year and then xylophones the next for example.   
Bart said that you can have one time things but the line item itself should 
remain, the funding itself is going to exist every year.   
Gail said that we should take out the things that are not reoccurring.   
Ray Cote said that the disagreement is whether or not this is reoccurring or not.  
He understands that we purchase equipment every year but not for the language 
lab.   
Craig referenced a handout titled Out of District Placements (see attachment #2) 
He said that we are trying to determine what it would mean to have an off-site 
location to bring students to.  Craig said that there are several alternative places 
in the district to bring students to.  The bussing would be less than $50,000.  We 
could use current ConVal staffing to manage these students.  We would need a 
stipend for legal fees.   
Craig said that we are sending a student to Tilton that costs us $117,337 plus 
transportation.  It is a residential placement.   
Bart said that we wanted to make sure that we are comparing apples to apples. 
Craig continued that we have an opportunity to save some money.  If the child 
has to get sent back there will be costs incurred.  Craig said that he was trying to 
see if there was a way to get from point “A” to point “B”.  He proposed that we 
take a look at this item.   
Mary asked if we know if the residential placement is mandated through an IEP.   
Linda Potter said that when a student moves in from out of district it is driven 
through the IEP.   
Ray said that we have done a number of things in the past to take students back 
in.  He asked how we would address the need of a student for 24 hour care.   
Keith said that assuming the numbers are close, there is some potential here.  



 7 

What we are proposing is to find a location and establish this program and 
determine how viable it would be.  We need a program approval first.  He said 
that it is adventuresome to draw conclusions before a test is conducted.   
Ray said that this is proposed with existing staff and he asked what that staff 
does now.  Keith said that they are currently doing this now with some incubator 
space.  This program works best if separated from the school itself.  The 
program demands that a different set of rules be in place.  Having the students 
interface with regular education students can be detrimental.   
Christy asked if these students had similar needs.  Linda confirmed.   
Keith said that some of these students are somewhat transient.  His advice was 
to try the program and accept the real savings. 
Stewart asked if this was successful would we take students in from other 
districts.  Linda confirmed that we could. 
Craig spoke next about “Teaching Principal Aids”.  The concept of a teaching 
Principal is that there is not a full-time Principal needed but we morph the two 
together.  We have an administrative assistant in each of the buildings.  In 
addition, we have an aid to each Principal.  A teaching Principal is responsible for 
overseeing the school as well as teaching.  Craig suggested that we look at 
saving money by having a full-time principal who acts as an administrative 
assistant as well.  Keith suggested that we ask the Principal present tonight 
about the value of that position.   
Keith said that typically when we look at aids, we equate two aids to one teacher 
as far as dollars go.  In this case, if we gave up two aids and added one teacher, 
it would be the same.   
Christy said that it is the aid that allows us to have mixed classrooms. 
May Clark said that Dublin has three combined classrooms this year.  When it 
comes to the new curriculum, which is more grade specific, it is almost 
impossible to deliver that curriculum with three teachers.  May said that her aid 
teaches two classes to one grade level.  Her aid is not paid as a teacher and she 
has a problem asking her to take on the added responsibilities that a teacher 
would be asked.   
Craig said that we are spending $188,277 on aids to teaching principals.  Bart 
asked if he was suggesting that we eliminate aids.  Craig said that he was 
throwing it out there. 
Stewart said that we have to ask the administration to come to us with a number 
of aids to be eliminated.   
Gail distributed a per student cost at the elementary schools (see attachment 
#3).  She said that when we look at the figures they are very different.  She said 
these costs are difficult to justify.  She said that we owe it to taxpayers to figure 
out a way to deal with this.   
 
Craig said that tomorrow night we must vote on the budget and sign on the 
warrant.   
Gail said that several other school districts are having a question appearing on 
the ballots asking the representatives to consider methods other than property 
taxes to fund the budget.  She thought that we might consider the same.   



 8 

Tom said that we are a School Board and not legislators and he was unsure if it 
was our task to do this.  Regardless of what the answer is, it is not our job to do 
it.   
Christy said that it could be done for informational purposes.  She thought that if 
there was a way that we could help move a resolution forward we out to do it.   
Bart said that he did not think it was our job to put something on the ballot.  The 
responsibility lies with our Legislators.   
Christy said that she feels that it is a cop out.   
 
Craig said that on the warrant tomorrow night, the average selectman gets paid 
$2,000.  He cited other stipends.  He would propose that we ask from a respect 
standpoint that we do as much as any Selectman.  We work our tails off.   
 
Stewart asked for evaluations.  He has received one to date and added that he 
would send one to both Marian and Keith. 
 
Tom said that he emailed information about the process of selecting a new 
Superintendent.  It is a good outline of things.  We will have more discussion.   
Christy asked if we needed to devise a set of questions or if it provided 
questions.  Tom said that we as a Board need to decide what type of candidate 
we will be looking for.  We will meet individuals tomorrow night that may help us 
with the process.   
 
Craig Hicks called the meeting to a close at 9:20 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Marschok 
 


